Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-6-2018

Idaho Retired Firefighters Association v. Public Employee Retirement Board Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45769

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants seek determination of the meaning of the term "paid firefighter" for purposes of determining cost of living ("COLA") adjustments for participants in the Idaho Firemen's Retirement Fund. Neither the Industrial Commission, the Retirement Board, nor the Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho ("PERSI") Director, have made this determination. Rather, the determination has been left to the Cities, some of whom have been instructed to include all "PERSI-eligible employees" of their fire departments regardless of whether they are "paid firefighters." Appellants sought injunctive relief directing PERSI to determine the meaning of the term "paid firefighter" so it can be decided what wages are, and what wages are not, included in determining COLA adjustments provided by statute. The Commission affirmed the Board's refusal to do so, and Plaintiffs-Appellants now seek to reverse the decision of the Commission.

A. Nature of the Case

Since 1980 publicly employed fire fighters in Idaho have been divided into two retirement systems. Those hired before 1980 participate in the Firemen's Retirement Fund. Those hired after 1980 participate in the PERSI system. The Retirement Board, as administrators of PERSI, manage both systems. PERSI staff has calculated COLAs for retirees in the Firemen's Retirement Fund on the basis of the total amounts paid by Idaho fire departments to anyone performing firefighting duties and reported as "employees," while Idaho statute requires that COLAs for this group be based only on the average salaries earned by "paid firefighters," a term of art defined by the Idaho Legislature. The failure to exclude individuals

1 – APPELLANT'S BRIEF

who do not meet the definition of "paid firefighter" breaches the Retirement Board's and PERSI Director's statutory duties, reduces the benefits received by Firemen's Retirement Fund ("FRF") beneficiaries, and thus violates both statutory and constitutional standards. The Commission erred when it affirmed the Retirement Board's decision to treat "employees" as equivalent to "paid firefighters."

B. Procedural History

In approximately June, 2013, members of the Idaho Retired Firefighters Association ("IRFA") Board learned that certain "reserve" fire fighters from the City of Lewiston were being included in the FRF COLA calculation. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 180-181, Hearing Transcript, Testimony of Parks). The IRFA undertook an investigation, working with PERSI staff to understand how COLAs were calculated and what had happened. (Id, pp. 182-183). The "reserve" firefighters were included because they had been deemed to be PERSI-eligible, having satisfied the standard of "employee" under PERSI rules. (Id, pp. 184-186). Over the course of several meetings with PERSI staff, IRFA learned that the inclusion of "reserve" firefighters by Lewiston in their monthly and annual reports lead to their inclusion in the annual COLA calculation. They also determined, in agreement with PERSI staff, that the inclusion of "reserve" firefighters was reducing the COLA for FRF retirees. (R, Vol. 3, pp. 401-403, Hearing Transcript, Testimony of Parks; R. Vol. 2, pp. 212-213, email from Drum). Although the IRFA repeatedly pointed out that the FRF required that COLAs be based on the wages of "paid firefighters" rather than "employees," Director Drum (and later the Retirement Board and the Industrial Commission)

never made a determination whether the reservists met that definition, relying instead simply on the determination that they were "employees" who engaged in fighting fire.

Based on its investigation and analysis of the relevant statutes (including PERSI Executive Director Drum's confirmation that "reserve" fire fighters were being included and were likely driving the COLA down) the IRFA requested that the Retirement Board overrule Director Drum's decision to include the reservists. By letter dated February 17, 2015, IRFA described the issue in detail, and requested that the Retirement Board correct the error by recalculating FRF COLAs without including "reserve" firefighters unless they also met the definition of "paid firefighter" under the FRF. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 215-220).

At its March 24, 2015 meeting the Retirement Board reviewed the IRFA's letter, considered comments by IRFA Counsel Alan Herzfeld, and determined it would take no action and make no changes to the manner in which it calculated FRF COLAs. (R. Vol. 2, p. 222, Minutes of March 24, 2015 Meeting). By letter dated April 20, 2015, IRFA again attempted to resolve the matter. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 224-225). On or about June 26, 2015, PERSI Director Drum informed the IRFA via letter that neither the Retirement Board nor PERSI staff would take any steps to address the issue. (R Vol. 2, p. 226).

In October, 2015, Appellants filed a Petition and Complaint for Declaratory Ruling with the Idaho Industrial Commission pursuant to Idaho Code § 72-1423. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 1-10). The Petition was denied on grounds that the PERSI Board's decision to take no action was not an appealable decision. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 44-47).

Appellants then filed a Petition for Declaratory Relief with PERSI in November, 2015.

(R. Vol. 1, pp. 48-56). A Recommended Order was issued (R. Vol. 1, pp. 97-112) and

Appellants sought exception, which was denied and a Final Order entered in October, 2016. (R.

Vol 1, pp. 114-116). The question at issue had still not been answered.

Appellants then returned to the Industrial Commission in November, 2016, seeking review of the Retirement Board's formal decision. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 245-264). In December, 2017, the Commission affirmed the Board's decision. (R. Vol. 3, p 568.).

This action followed.

C. Statement of the Facts

<u>1.</u> <u>History of the Firemen's Retirement Fund and its Integration Into PERSI.</u>

The FRF was established by the Idaho Legislature in 1945 and codified in Title 72,

Chapter 14, Idaho Code. The purpose of the system was straightforward and clearly expressed:

The retirement, with continuance of pay for themselves, provision for dependents, and pay during temporary disability, and the encouragement of long service in fire fighting service, of paid firefighters becoming aged or disabled in the service of the state or any of its cities or fire districts, is hereby declared to be a public purpose of joint concern to the state and each of its cities and fire districts in the protection and conservation of property and lives and essential to the maintenance of competent and efficient personnel in fire service.

I.C. §72-1401.

From 1945 until 1980, the FRF was administered by the State Insurance Fund and provided pensions and disability benefits for Idaho's fire fighters pursuant to the original FRF statute as amended. In 1976, and presumably to further the public interest set out in §72-1401, the Legislature provided for an annual COLA to pension benefits. The newly codified §72-

1432B specified that beneficiaries would "be entitled to receive adjustments to such benefits, calculated on the percentage of increase or decrease in the average paid firefighter's salary or wage, in this state, as computed under the terms of section 72-1411, Idaho Code." 1976 Sess. Laws, Ch. 273, §23, p. 942.

The statement of purpose specified that I.C. §72-1432B was added to the law "to provide a process for making cost of living adjustments to retirement benefits." Id., p. 921. In that respect, the 1976 bill made similar adjustments to the manner of calculating benefits for early retirement, for disability retirement, for survivor benefits, and for voluntary retirements occurring at 20, 21, 22, 23, 24 or 25 years of service. Id., §§6-18. In each case, the method of calculating benefits was based on "the percentage of increase or decrease in the average paid firefighter's salary or wage." Id., §23. To ensure there was no confusion, the same bill amended the definitions section of the FRF statute to specify that:

The words 'paid fireman' are synonymous with 'paid firefighter,' and mean any individual, male or female, excluding office secretaries employed after July 1, 1967, who is on the payroll of any city or town or fire district in the state of Idaho and who devotes his or her principal time of employment to the care, operation, maintenance or the requirements of a regularly constituted fire department of such city or fire district in the state of Idaho.

Id., §1, p. 922. This did not work any substantive change in the definitions, it merely made clear that "paid fireman" and "paid firefighter" were to have the same meaning, and that both terms still referred to individuals for whom firefighting was their principal occupation.

By 1979, the Legislature had decided to merge the FRF into PERSI. In 1979 House Bill 116 "provide[d] for the transfer of" "the assets, liabilities, duties, obligations and rights" of the

FRF to PERSI effective October 1, 1980. 1979 Sess. Laws, Ch. 147, §2, p. 453. Importantly, the Legislature created Idaho Code § 59-1356 (subsequently designated §59-1392) which provided:

The combined rights and benefits of firemen members as of October 1, 1980, shall not be less than the rights and benefits they would have received from the firemen's retirement fund and social security, had the fund not been integrated with the employee system.

During the 1980 legislative session, substantial "housekeeping" completed the process of converting the FRF to a program within and administered by PERSI. 1980 House Bill 526 amended numerous sections of the Firefighter's Retirement Fund statute, as well as the PERSI statute.

Significantly, the definition of "paid firefighter" was left unchanged in the course of the merger. The Legislature limited future participation in FRF to firefighters employed prior to October 1, 1980, and specified that all subsequently hired firefighters be enrolled in PERSI. 1980 Id. Sess. Laws Ch. 50, §2, p. 81. Management of the FRF was shifted from the State Insurance Fund to the Retirement Board (which already oversaw PERSI). Id., §§3, 4, 6, 10. Closing a gap it had appeared to leave open in 1976, the Legislature again reaffirmed that FRF COLAs would continue, would be calculated pursuant to the provisions of the 1976 law, and would be extended to spouses and children receiving death benefits. Id., §25. The manner of calculating COLAs was left unchanged. Id., §36.

The Legislature ensured however, that fire fighters who had begun employment under the FRF system were fully protected in the merger with PERSI by specifying once again that their

"rights and benefits . . . shall not be less than the rights and benefits they would have received from the firefighters' retirement fund, had the fund not been integrated with the employee system." Id. §43. This amendment simplified the provision that had been first added in 1979, by removing the references to social security, so that the provision simply required that FRF beneficiaries continue to receive benefits as if there had been no merger. Id.

In 1990 the Legislature made substantial changes to all state employee retirement programs, though few of those changes directly affected FRF retirees. However, 1990 House Bill 231 did result in renumbering of many sections of Idaho code, yielding the code section designations we see today. 1990 Idaho Sess. Laws, Ch. 231, p. 611.

2. Application of the COLA Provisions of the 1976 and Subsequent Amendments.

From 1976 until 1980, the State Insurance Fund (which operated the FRF at that time) implemented COLA increases for FRF retirees by calculating the increase in the average salary or wages of paid firefighters in the state of Idaho, and ensuring that FRF retirees received a similar adjustment and, in doing so, excluded so-called volunteer firefighters, even though those "volunteers" were in fact paid for their time when they performed firefighting services. This practice was consistent with both the COLA statute which required COLAs to match the adjustments earned by "paid firefighters," I.C. §72-1471, and the definitions section of the FRF statute which defined "paid firefighter" as any individual employed by a city or fire district "who devotes his or her principal time of employment to the care, operation, maintenance or the requirements of a regularly constitute fire department." I.C. §72-1403(A).

Although some fire departments in the 1970s and 1980s utilized part-time, volunteer firefighters, none of those volunteers received pension benefits, none were reported to PERSI, and, as a result, none were included in COLA calculations. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 527-529, Hearing Transcript, Testimony of Nokes).

From 1980 until approximately 2009, PERSI and the Retirement Board implemented COLA increases for FRF beneficiaries based on the average salary or wages of full time, paid firefighters in the state of Idaho, excluding anyone else such as "volunteer" firefighters, just as the State Insurance Fund had done. This practice was consistent both with the FRF statutes, as well as with Idaho Code §59-1397 (requiring that former FRF participants receive the same benefits they would have without the merger) and with Idaho Code §59-1391(f) which defined paid firefighter in terms almost identical to the definition in §72-1403(A).

The Retirement Board bases its COLA calculations on pension contribution reports received from fire departments around the state. In 2009, the City of Lewiston and the union representing its firefighters agreed to include in its PERSI reports certain part-time fire department employees known as "reservists." (R. Vol. 2, p. 214). Since all such "reserve" firefighters were hired after 1980, their eligibility for retirement benefits arose from PERSI statutes and regulations, rather than FRF statutes and regulations. Put simply, they would get PERSI benefits if they were "employees" rather than having to meet the more stringent requirements of being "paid firefighters" under FRF rules.

After Lewiston began reporting these part-time workers as employees, the Retirement Board included them in their calculation of "the percentage of increase or decrease in the average

paid firefighter's salary or wage" to determine COLA raises for FRF retirees and beneficiaries, despite, as discussed below, never having determined whether they are or are not "paid firefighters." I.C. §72-1471 (R. Vol. 1, pp. 198-200; R. Vol, 2, pp. 201-211). PERSI and the IRFA agreed that the inclusion of the reservists effectively reduced the COLAs received by FRF retirees and beneficiaries. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 212-213, email from Drum). The reservists both increased the number of alleged "paid firefighters" and diluted the wages earned because of their reduced hours of work. (Id.).

Because PERSI and Director Drum never made any effort to determine which, if any of the reservists would also meet the definition of "paid firefighter" it is impossible to calculate the actual economic effect of their inclusion on the FRF retirees. The parties, however, prior to the litigation, came "close" to each other in their calculations. (Id.). The IRFA had calculated that inclusion of reservists from Lewiston had reduced each retirees benefit by an average of \$516 per year. (Id.). PERSI staff did similar calculations and concluded that the inclusion of reservists had reduced the monthly benefit by \$457, resulting in a first year reduction in benefits of \$208,000. (Id.). The IRFA knew at the time that there were 551 FRF retirees, thus even \$457 per year, the first year loss of benefits was \$251,807, rather than the \$208,000. Extrapolating the first year loss of benefits of \$251,000 in 2013 over the intervening five years, puts the total benefits reduction for the now-elderly retired firefighters at well over a million dollars. The losses will continue to grow each year since COLAs are essentially cumulative. While the exact loss is unknown (only PERSI could accurately calculate it), it is substantial and it is borne

entirely by the now-elderly fire fighters (and their widows) who spent careers serving Idaho communities.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The present appeal from a final order of the Industrial Commission presents the following questions:

A. Did the Industrial Commission err as a matter of law in holding that the defined term "paid firefighter" includes all fire fighters meeting the definition of "employee" under the Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho;

B. Has the Retirement Board failed to exercise a statutory duty to determine who are "paid firefighters" within the meaning of the Fireman's Retirement Fund and related Acts;

C. Have retired fire fighters in the State of Idaho been denied the full statutory benefit owed them under the Fireman's Retirement Fund and related Acts;

D. Have the actions of the Idaho Public Employee Retirement Board impaired the contracts of the Appellants and other retired fire fighters in violation of the United States and Idaho Constitutions.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In appeals from the Industrial Commission, the Court reviews de novo the Commission's legal conclusions, but does not disturb factual findings if they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. IDAHO CONST. ART. V, §9; I.C. §72-732¹; *Berglund v. Potlatch Corp.*,

¹ This case first arose under the Firemen's Retirement Fund Act, which was placed under the administration of the Public Employee Retirement Board. Claims against that Board are first presented there and, if appeal is sought,

129 Idaho 752, 754, 932 P.2d 875, 877 (1996); *Steen v. Denny's Rest.*, 135 Idaho 234, 235, 16 P.3d 910 (2000).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Industrial Commission Erred as a Matter of Law When it Failed to Issue a Declaratory Judgment Requiring the Retirement Board to Base FRF COLA's on the Wages of "Paid Firefighters" Rather Than on the Wages of all "Employees."

Idaho statute is unequivocal in requiring that FRF beneficiaries receive an annual COLA.

I.C. § 72-1471. The statute requires that the annual COLA be based on the percentage annual increase or decrease in the "average paid firefighter's salary or wage." "Paid firefighter" is a specifically-defined term in Chapter 14, Title 72 and the definition requires that "paid firefighter," include only those career firefighters whose "principal time of employment" was as a firefighter with an Idaho city or fire district. I.C. § 72-1403(A).

The reserve firefighters which the Retirement Board insists on including in the COLA calculation have only been determined to meet the much less demanding definition of "employee" set out in I.C. 59-1302(14). To be an "employee" §59-1302(14) requires only that an individual "normally work twenty hours or more per week for an employer ... and receive salary for services rendered for such employer" for at least five consecutive months. PERSI Rule 113 provides that a person meets the "normally work twenty hours or more per week for more per week" requirement if he or she "works twenty hours or more per week for more than half of the weeks during the period of employment being considered." (IDAPA 59.01.02.113). Thus, an

appeal is to the Industrial Commission and, pursuant to I.C. §77-1423 such claims are treated as if they arose under the Workmen's Compensation Act. Proceedings from that point onward proceed under that statute.

"employee" under PERSI's regulations is someone who, at least every other week, works over 20 hours for the employer. In contrast to full-time Lewiston suppression firefighters, who normally work approximately 242 hours per month, (Parks, pp. 23-24) a reservist need only work slightly more than 40 hours per month in order to meet the PERSI definition of employee. To state the same in slightly different terms, since firefighters routinely work 24-hour shifts, a "paid firefighter" in Lewiston typically works at least ten shifts per month (240 hours per month or more), while a reserve firefighter would qualify as a PERSI "employee" under Rule 113 if he worked as little as one shift every other week (48 hours per month).

An individual working as little as 48 hours per month might meet the employee definition, but doing so would entirely fail to prove that their "principal time of employment" is as a firefighter. By determining that all PERSI "employees" reported by fire departments would be included in FRF COLA calculations, without regard to whether those "employees" met the definition of "paid firefighter," the PERSI staff have acted contrary to both the language and intent of the statute defining paid firefighter, as well as in violation of the statute requiring that FRF benefits be maintained as if no merger with PERSI had ever occurred. I.C. §59-1392 to §59-1356

B. The Industrial Commission Erred When it Failed to Require PERSI and the Retirement Board to Perform Their Statutory Duty to Determine Who Are Paid Firefighters, and Base COLA Increases Only on Their Wages.

Neither the Retirement Board nor PERSI staff make any determination whatsoever of whether any individual fire fighter is a "paid firefighter" within the meaning of the statute. By

making no determination, the PERSI staff, on behalf of the Retirement Board, and the Director as Director, is failing to exercise a statutory duty in violation of state law.

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