## Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-9-2018

## Idaho Retired Firefighters Association v. Public Employee Retirement Board Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45769

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

recommendation in its entirety by way of an order dated October 18, 2016. (R. Vol. I, pp. 114-16.)

On November 23, 2016, the Association filed a petition and complaint before the Idaho Industrial Commission appealing the Board's order. (R. Vol. I, pp. 48-56.) The parties submitted briefs and exhibits to the Industrial Commission and the matter went under advisement on September 18, 2017. (R. Vol. III, p. 554.) The issue considered by the Industrial Commission was whether PERSI was acting in violation of statute by including part-time firefighters employed by the City of Lewiston in the COLA calculation for the FRF. (*Id.*) On December 29, 2017, the Industrial Commission issued findings of fact, conclusions of law, and an order, which found that the definition of "paid firefighters" included firefighters that work for a city or fire district on less than a full time basis. (R. Vol. III, pp. 553-69.) This appeal followed.

#### III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

#### A. The FRF System And The COLA Calculation.

In 1945, the Idaho Legislature created the FRF to provide retirement benefits to Idaho firefighters. It codified the FRF in Chapter 14 of Title 72 and tasked the State Insurance Fund with administering the fund. The Legislature also provided definitions for the terms used within the Chapter and defined "paid fireman" as follows:

The words "paid fireman" means any individual who is on the payroll of any city or town or fire district in the State of Idaho and who devotes his or her principal time of employment to the care, operation, maintenance or requirements of a regularly constituted Fire Department of such city or fire district in the State of Idaho. 1945 Idaho Sess. Laws 113.

In 1976, the Idaho legislature passed Idaho Code § 72-1432B (since re-designated Idaho Code § 72-1471), which created an annual cost of living adjustment for FRF beneficiaries. The COLA is to be "calculated on the percentage of increase or decrease in the average paid firefighter's salary or wage."<sup>1</sup> Idaho Code § 72-1471.

In 1979, the Idaho Legislature transferred all assets and administration of the FRF to PERSI effective October 1, 1980. Any firefighters hired after October 1, 1980 participate in the PERSI retirement system, rather than FRF. Any firefighters hired before October 1, 1980 were still allowed to participate in the FRF retirement system. Today, there are only a few firefighters still working who are under the FRF retirement system (R. Vol. III, p. 445:5-9), but there are many firefighters that have retired under it.

The Legislature amended Title 72 of Chapter 14 of the Idaho Code as part of the abovereferenced transfer. One such amendment was to adopt the following definition of "paid firefighter:"

The words "paid fireman" are synonymous with "paid firefighter," and mean any individual, male or female, excluding office secretaries employed after July 1, 1967, who is on the payroll of any city or fire district in the state of Idaho prior to October 1, 1980, and who devotes his or her principal time of employment to the care, operation, maintenance or the requirements of a regularly constituted fire department of such city or fire district in the state of Idaho.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Association claims that, during the four years from 1976 to 1980 when the State Insurance Fund administered the FRF, it only included full-time firefighters in its COLA calculations. (Appellants' Br., p. 8.) However, as was noted by the hearing officer, there was no evidence submitted to support that claim. (R. Vol. I, p. 98-99.)

Idaho Code § 72-1403(A).

The Legislature also adopted Idaho Code §§ 59-1351- through 1359 (re-designated Idaho Code §§ 59-1391- through 1399) to govern the transfer of the FRF to PERSI. Idaho Code § 59-1351 defined the terms used therein. The term paid fireman was defined as "an employee who engages in fire fighting, emergency or hazardous duties or other duties required of and by his employer." 1979 Idaho Sess. Laws 452-53. In 1984, the Legislature amended the definition of "paid fireman" to more closely track the wording of the definition at § 72-1403(A), but the definition omitted the date restriction and opening clause about the terms "paid fireman" and "paid firefighter" being synonymous. 1984 Idaho Sess. Laws 318-19. In 1990, the Legislature revised the definition to refer to a firefighter instead of a fireman, such that the term is currently defined as follows:

"Paid firefighter" means any individual, male or female, excluding office secretaries on the payroll of any city or fire district in the state of Idaho who devotes his or her principal time of employment to the care, operation, maintenance or the requirements of a regularly constituted fire department of such city or fire district in the state of Idaho.

Idaho Code § 59-1391(f).

PERSI, under management of the Board, has set the FRF COLA since 1980. PERSI, pursuant to Idaho Code 59-1325(1), directs all employers to report and pay contributions on any qualifying employee. Idaho Code 59-1302(14) defines "employee" as an individual who normally works twenty or more hours a week for an employer for at least five consecutive months. PERSI Rule 113 clarifies that if an employee works more than twenty hours a week during more than half of the five month period, then they are PERSI eligible. IDAPA 59.01.02.113.

PERSI categorizes employees based on their contribution rate. *Id.*; IDAPA 59.01.03.026-028. Public safety employees, including firefighters and police officers, are Class II and have a higher contribution rate. IDAPA 59.01.03.028. Employers decide which employees to report in what class based on guidance from PERSI. *Id*.

In order to calculate the FRF COLA each year, PERSI compiles monthly firefighter salary reports from all cities or fire districts who have or had FRF firefighters, which consists of 22 different fire departments. (R. Vol. III, pp. 424:25-425:13; 443:17-444:6.) Those employees are broken down into Class A, Class B, Class D and Class E firefighters. (R. Vol. III, p. 444:714.) Class A firefighters are those hired before October 1, 1980, who chose Option I retirement under FRF. (R. Vol. III, p. 444:15-25.) Class B firefighters are those hired before October 1, 1980, who chose Option II retirement under FRF.<sup>2</sup> (R. Vol., III, p. 445:1-4.) Class D firefighters are those hired after October 1, 1980. (R. Vol. III, p. 445:21-25.) Class E are employees who meet the definition of paid firefighter under Idaho Code § 59-1391(f), but who are not firefighters as defined by Idaho Code § 59-1302(16). (R. Vol. III, p. 448:1-10.) The total salary for all 22 fire departments is divided by the total service months for all firefighters to arrive at an average salary. (R. Vols. I & II, pp. 198-211; R. Vol. III, p. 558 ¶ 5.) The average

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Option I allowed a firefighter to have his retirement based upon a percentage of the statewide average paid firefighter's salary or wage and Option II allowed a firefighter to have his retirement based upon a percentage of their own salary or wage. Idaho Code § 72-1431.

salary for that year is then compared to the prior year to arrive at the COLA. (R. Vol. III, at 558  $\P$  5*Id*.)

# **B.** Issues Arose Regarding The Inclusion Of Reserve Firefighters In The COLA Calculation.

The Association is a non-profit that was formed to keep track of pension and retirement benefits for retired firefighters in Idaho. (R. Vol. I, p. 2 at  $\P$  2.) The Association meets with PERSI regularly, tracks the yearly COLA, and advocates on behalf of its members. (*Id.*; R. Vol. I, p. 180:16-81:10.)

In the fall of 2009, at PERSI and the Association's annual meeting, the Association brought up some concerns regarding an increase in months of accumulated service reported for paid firefighters reported by the City of Lewiston. (R. Vol. III, pp. 451:17-452:7.) Based on these concerns, PERSI's executive director, Don Drum, ordered an audit. (R. Vol. III, p. 452:18-23.) The 2009 PERSI audit did determine that the Lewiston Fire Department had been incorrectly including in their monthly reports some employees who should not have been included and was also not including some employees who should have been included. (R. Vol. III, p.p. 452:24-453:20.) PERSI made corrections based on its determination that Lewiston had not been correctly reporting its "paid firefighters." (*Id.* at 453:11-20.) After the audit, the Lewiston Fire Department began reporting the wages of any fire department employees who met the statutory definition of paid firefighter and the PERSI definition of an employee. (R. Vol. I, p. 101.)

The Association also claims that, from 1980 to 2009, it was PERSI's policy to only

include full-time firefighters in the COLA calculations. (Appellants' Br., p. 8.) However, as was noted by the hearing officer, no evidence was presented to support that claim. (R. Vol. I, p. 99.) Rather, Director Drum testified that the methodology PERSI uses to calculate the COLAs is based upon employer monthly reports of PERSI eligible paid firefighters and that policy has never changed. (R. Vol. III, pp. 450:23-451:16.)

In 2013, the Association again raised concerns about Lewiston after noting an increase in the number of months of service reported in its annual report when compared to the sum in its monthly reports. (R. Vol. I, pp. 180:23-82:5.) PERSI investigated this issue and followed up by meeting with the Association. (R. Vol. I, p. 182:7-25.) At the meeting, a PERSI employee named Debbie Buck explained the increase by noting that Lewiston added in 49 more months of service in its year-end report that it had mistakenly excluded in its monthly reports. (R. Vol. I, pp. 183:1-17.)

After a few more meetings, the Association requested that PERSI recalculate the COLA with part-time firefighters excluded to see how it would affect their benefits. (R. Vol. III, pp. 464:15-465:2.) Ms. Buck performed the calculations and the COLA increased with such firefighters excluded. (R. Vol. II, pp. 212-13.) The Association lobbied through legal counsel for PERSI to change its practice of including part-time firefighters in the COLA calculations. (R. Vol. II, pp. 215, 222, & 224-25.) However, the Association was unsuccessful in such efforts as PERSI believed that an amendment to the statute would be necessary for it exclude part-time firefights from the COLA calculation. (R. Vol. II, p. 226; R. Vol. III, pp. 466:3-20; 468:6-12.) Accordingly, the Association initiated legal proceedings.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The Board believes the issues on appeal are more appropriately described as follows:

1. Whether the statutory definitions of the term "paid firefighters" set forth in Idaho Code §§ 72-1403(A) and 59-1391(f) include all firefighters on the payroll of a city or fire district who devote the majority of their time on the payroll to firefighting activities?

2. Whether PERSI can rely on the cities and fire districts to make fact specific determinations as to whether specific firefighters should be classified as "paid firefighters" within the meaning of §§ 72-1403(A) and 59-1391(f)?

3. Whether PERSI was discharging a ministerial, administrative duty—and not engaging in legislative acts—when it calculated the COLA adjustment for the Fireman's Retirement Fund?

#### V. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>

The Board agrees with the Association that, on appeals from the Industrial Commission, the Court conducts *de novo* review of conclusions of law by the Commission, but does not disturb findings of fact so long as they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. *Soto v. J.R. Simplot*, 126 Idaho 536, 539, 887 P.2d 1043, 1046 (1994).

#### VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. Statutes Must Be Given Their Plain And Ordinary Meaning.

It is a well-established rule of statutory construction that statutes will be given their plain and ordinary meaning. Indeed, this Court has left no doubt about the core rules of statutory interpretation controlling here: The interpretation of a statute "must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be construed as a whole. If the statute is not ambiguous, this Court does not construe it, but simply follows the law as written."

*Verska v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 889, 893, 265 P.3d 502, 506 (2011) (quoting *State v. Schwartz*, 139 Idaho 360, 362, 79 P.3d 719, 721 (2003)). Consequently, "where a statute or constitutional provision is plain, clear, and unambiguous, it 'speaks for itself and must be given the interpretation the language clearly implies." *Id.* (citations omitted). "Unlike courts in some other states, we are not at liberty to depart from the plain meaning of a statute for policy reasons." *Grazer v. Jones*, 154 Idaho 58, 66, 294 P.3d 184, 192 (2013) (citations omitted).

The first step in interpreting a statute is to discern whether or not it is ambiguous. "'A statute is ambiguous where the language is capable of more than one *reasonable* construction." *Verska*, 151 Idaho at 896, 265 P.3d at 509 (quoting *Porter v. Bd. of Trs., Preston Sch. Dist. No. 201*, 141 Idaho 11, 14, 105 P.3d 671, 674 (2004)) (emphasis added). A statute is not ambiguous "merely because an astute mind can devise more than one interpretation of it." *Farmers Nat'l Bank v. Green River Dairy, LLC*, 155 Idaho 853, 856, 318 P.3d 622, 625 (2014) (citation omitted). "[T]he fact that two different interpretations of a statute are presented does not alone make a statute ambiguous. Rather, the statute's meaning must be so doubtful or obscure that reasonable minds would be uncertain or doubtful as to the statute's meaning." *Id.* (citation omitted). "[W]here statutory language is unambiguous, legislative history and other extrinsic evidence should not be consulted for the purpose of altering the clearly expressed intent of the legislature." *Verska*, 151 Idaho at 893 (quoting *City of Sun Valley v. Sun Valley Co.*, 123 Idaho

#### 665, 667, 851 P.2d 961, 963 (1993)).

## B. Sections 72-1403(A) And 59-1391(f) Are Unambiguous And Do Not Distinguish Between Part-Time And Full-Time Firefighters.

This appeal's resolution turns on the meaning of "paid firefighter" as used in Idaho Code § 72-1471 and defined in Idaho Code §§ 72-1403(A) and 59-1391(f). Sections 59-1391(f) and 72-1403(a) juxtapose two clauses in defining "paid firefighter" status: an individual (1) "who is on the payroll of any city or fire district in the state of Idaho" and (2) "who devotes his or her principal time of employment to the care, operation, maintenance or the requirements of a regularly constituted fire department of such city or fire district in the state of Idaho."

Those clauses work in tandem by imposing two complementary requirements. First, the individual must be employed by the city or fire district. Second, that individual must perform a specific category of public safety work during the majority of his or her time while on the city or fire district's payroll. Nothing in the definition adds a third requirement that such employment be "the principal means of livelihood" (§§ 72-1403(D) and (H)) or not engaging "in any other gainful occupation as his [or her] principal gainful occupation" (§ 72-1403(E)).

Sections 59-1391(f) and 72-1403(A) are indifferent as to whether an individual derives the bulk of her or his income from passive investments or functions as a real estate agent during off-hours. So, too, they are indifferent as to whether an individual subsists solely on part-time firefighter pay. Their concern lies solely in identifying an "employee" who performs a specific type of public safety work during the majority of their time on the job.

There is only one clear exclusion from the class of paid firefighters and that is an office

secretary. Had the Legislature intended to incorporate that additional restriction on "paid firefighter" status, it would have added it expressly rather than expecting the State Insurance Fund and now PERSI to insert it through administrative *fiat* into an otherwise straightforward set of pre-conditions to such status.

In the past, when arguing that the term "paid firefighters" refers only to full-time firefighters, the Association relied not on the language of §§ 59-1391(f) and 72-1403(A), but on several definitions that assign meaning to periods of service. More specifically, the Association has argued that "[t]he FRF was built on an assumption of covering only full-time, primary employment" as "seen not only in the definition of 'paid firefighter' but also in the definitions of 'service.'" (R. Vol. II, p. 257; *see also id.* at 253 n.2.)

While the Association did not make this argument in its Opening Brief and thus appears to have abandoned this argument, it should be noted that this approach conflicts with the straightforward language in the "paid firefighter" definition and introduces ambiguity where none exists by conflating statutory provisions that serve wholly different purposes.

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